1976

Bank of Ephraim v. Halbert Davis et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an appeal from a decision of the Sixth
Judicial District Court as to the priorities of certain
judgment creditors on a Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court awarded Judgment on a Decree of
Foreclosure to the judgment creditors, Bank of Ephraim,
Babylon Corporation, Prudential Federal Savings and Loan

Association and the Utah State Tax Commission as per the Complaints of each creditor. The rights of the defendant Steinmann were previously assigned to defendant Babylon Corporation. The defendants First State Bank and United States of America were previously dismissed as parties defendant to the action.

In its judgment and decree of foreclosure the District Court in addition to awarding Judgments to the judgment creditors, assigned priorities to the judgments of each creditor, as is set forth in the Statement of Facts. It is from these priorities that the plaintiff appellant appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to have the Supreme Court declare that the trial court was in error in granting the defendant Babylon Corporation and Prudential Federal Savings priority on their judgments ahead of the entire judgment of the plaintiff.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

There are generally no controversies concerning the facts of the case which are basically as follows:

The case involves three parcels of property described below:

PARCEL 1

Beginning at a point 1.94 chains North from the Southwest corner of Block 57 as platted in Plat "A" Manti City Survey, thence East 4.20 chains, thence North 33° West, along Manti City Creek, 1.10 chains, thence West 3.55 chains, thence South 1.00 chain to the place of beginning.

PARCEL 2

Beginning at a point 234.96 feet South, thence 129 feet East from the Northwest corner of Block 57, as platted in Plat "A" Manti City Survey, thence North 48° East 14 feet, thence North 40.25 feet, thence East 66 feet, thence South 49.50 feet, thence West 76.33 feet to beginning. 0.465 acres.

PARCEL 3

All of Lot 9, Block 44, Plat "A", Manti City Survey, Sanpete County, State of Utah, containing 0.60 acre, more or less

Parcels 1 and 2 have a cafe known as Hals Palace Cafe, as an improvement and shall be hereafter referred to as the cafe property.

Parcel 3 is a trailer court and shall hereafter be referred to as the trailer property.

CAFE PROPERTY:

On the 7th day of August, 1970 the defendant, Halbert Davis mortgaged to the Bank of Ephraim the Cafe Property and signed a note at the time for the sum of \$2,400.00.

On the face of the mortgage is typed a clause which reads:

"This mortgage covers all additional advances on this loan, the total principal amount not to exceed \$3,000.00."

Paragraph 2 of the printed portion of the mortgage reads:

"To secure payment of any and all extensions or renewals and successive extensions or renewals, of the notes above described, or of the indebtedness represented by the same, and of any other indebtedness at any time existing from the mortgagor to the mortgagee, whether represented by notes, drafts, open account or otherwise, and all the interest on all of the same, all of which extensions or renewals shall be optional with the mortgagee, but at the mortgagee's option may be made by new notes or otherwise and at, before or after maturity, and for all of which this mortgage shall stand as a continuing security until paid."

On August 7, 1970 the defendant Halbert Davis gave a second mortgage to Steven Kaye Steinmann and signed a Promissory Note in favor of Steven Kaye Steinmann in the sum of \$14,500.00. Both the note and the mortgage were subsequently assigned to the defendant Babylon Corporation.

The mortgage to Steven Kaye Steinmann expressly set forth the fact that it was secondary to the mortgage to the Bank of Ephraim.

On June 6, 1972 the defendant Halbert Davis executed a Promissory Note to the Bank of Ephraim in the sum of \$35,555.89.

On June 21, 1972 defendant Davis executed an installment note and mortgage to Prudential Federal Savings & Loan Association in the sum of \$4,073.40. This amount was later absorbed in the subsequent installment note and mortgage of October 19, 1972 in the sum of \$10,228.80.

On April 5, 1973 the defendant Halbert Davis executed a Promissory Note to the Bank of Ephraim in the sum of \$2,000.00 and on June 19, 1974 Davis executed a Promissory Note to Bank of Ephraim in the sum of \$5,384.00.

Further, on March 19, 1974 defendant Davis delivered to Plaintiff, Bank of Ephraim, its note in the sum of \$5,500.00 which is set forth in the Plaintiff's Third Claim for Relief.

The interest of the Utah State Tax Commission is represented by delinquent tax warrants for delinquent sales, unemployment and Income Tax.

At the time of the trial on January 5, 1976 all the parties presented evidence which the court took under advisement and later awarded judgment as follows:

(a) To the Bank of Ephraim, \$43,037.00 Principal, \$6,536.75 interest and \$3,000.00 attorney's fees for a total judgment of \$52,573.75, and Decree of Foreclosure on the cafe property.

(b) To the Babylon Corporation, \$13,269.52 principal, \$1,126.00 interest, \$40.00 title report, \$2,000.00 Attorney's fee for a total judgment of \$16,435.52 and a Decree of Foreclosure on the Cafe property.

(c) To Prudential Federal Savings, \$5,833.33 principal, \$25.00 title report, \$900.00 attorney's fees for a total Judgment of \$6,750.33 and a Decree of Foreclosure on the Cafe property.

(d) To the Utah State Tax Commission, \$2,766.73.

(e) To the Bank of Ephraim on its Third Cause of Action, \$5,500.00 principal, \$900.00 attorney's fees and \$996.11 interest for a total Judgment of \$7,396.11 and a Decree of Foreclosure on the Cafe property.

The court then assigned the following priorities on the Cafe Property:

- | | |
|--|------------|
| (1) Bank of Ephraim
Plus interest at 10% per annum from
2/22/74 | \$3,000.00 |
| Plus reasonable attorney's fee of | 600.00 |
| Plus costs of Court in the sum of | 27.11 |
| (2) Babylon Corporation | 14,395.50 |
| Plus reasonable attorney fees of | 2,000.00 |
| Plus interest at 8% per annum from
date | |
| (3) Prudential Federal Savings and Loan
Association | 5,833.33 |
| Plus interest at 10% per annum | |
| Plus Sttorney's fees | 900.00 |
| (4) Balance of Judgments to Bank of Ephraim
including amounts found due on its
Third Cause of Action | |
| (5) State of Utah Tax Warrants | 2,766.73 |

TRAILER COURT PROPERTY:

On March 15, 1971 defendant, Davis, executed a Promissory Note in the amount of \$4,000.00 in favor of the Bank of Ephraim, which was secured by a mortgage on the trailer park property.

On the fact of this mortgage is typed a clause which reads:

"This mortgage covers all additional advances on this loan, the total principal amount not to exceed \$6,000.00."

Paragraph 2 of the printed portion of the mortgage reads:

"To secure payment of any and all extensions or renewals, and successive extensions or renewals, of the note above described, or of the indebtedness represented by the same, and of any other indebtedness, at any time arising from the mortgagor to the mortgagee, whether represented by notes, drafts, open account or otherwise, and all the interest on all of the same, all of which extensions or renewals shall be optional with the mortgagee, but at the mortgagee's option may be made by new notes or otherwise and at, before, or after maturity, and for all of which the mortgage shall stand as a continuing security until paid."

On June 21, 1972, defendant Davis obtained a loan from Prudential Federal which was superceded by its subsequent loan on October 16, 1972. This loan is the same as the loan covered by the Cafe property above, Prudential's mortgage covering both parcels of property.

Thereafter, on July 31, 1974 by an additional Promissory Note, Halbert Davis borrowed an additional \$1,508.41 on the trailer court property from the Plaintiff.

The interest of the Utah State Tax Commission is the same as on the cafe property.

The defendant Babylon Corporation is not an interested party in the trailer court property.

The evidence on the trailer court was submitted to the court as was done on the Cafe property and the court

awarded judgment as follows.

Sponsored by the National Endowment for the Humanities. Digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

(a) To the Bank of Ephraim, \$5,508.41 principal, \$941.48 interest, \$750.00 attorney's fee for a total judgment of \$7,229.89, and a Decree of Foreclosure on the trailer property.

(b) To Prudential Federal Savings the same judgment as given on the Cafe property.

(c) To Utah State Tax Commission - same judgment as on Cafe property.

The court then assigned the following priorities on the trailer property:

- | | | |
|-----|---|------------|
| (1) | Bank of Ephraim | \$5,508.41 |
| | Plus interest of | 971.46 |
| | Plus reasonable attorney fee of | 750.00 |
| | and interest at rate of 8% from date of Judgment until paid | |
| (2) | Prudential Federal Savings | |
| | Same as in Cafe property. | |
| (3) | Bank of Ephraim | |
| | Balance of indebtedness owned on all obligations | |
| (4) | Utah State Tax Commission | |
| | Same as in Cafe property | |

It is from the decision of the Court assigning the priorities as to the Cafe property from which the plaintiff takes this appeal. Plaintiff does not contest the priorities of the court as they apply to the trailer property.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PARAGRAPH 2(a) OF THE FINDINGS OF FACT IN AWARDING THE JUDGMENTS OF DEFENDANT BABYLON CORPORATION AND PRUDENTIAL FEDERAL SAVINGS PRIORITY OVER THE BALANCE OF THE INDEBTEDNESS TO THE BANK OF EPHRAIM.

The Plaintiff's position as supported by the authorities cited below is that all the promissory notes and mortgage by which the notes are secured are a first priority over all other lien claims.

The plaintiff admits at the beginning that the advances made by the Bank of Ephraim were optional and not obligatory under the mortgage.

The contention of the Defendant Prudential Federal Savings at the time of trial was that since the advances made by the bank were optional, that the lien priority is determined as of the time the advances were actually made, and that in no event should the lien priority exceed \$3,000.00 as set forth on the face of the mortgage.

The problem with this is that the bulk of the advances made by the Bank of Ephraim on the Cafe property were prior to the time Prudential Federal Savings made its loan. This is obviously why Prudential urges the \$3,000.00 limitation.

To adopt this position, however, one has to take the position that we should hold to one clause of the mortgage and not to another. Paragraph 2 of the mortgage plainly includes all other loans of whatever nature.

The defendant Prudential and all other claimants had notice of that clause, for it was on file and they only

had to inquire of the Bank of Ephraim as to any amounts loaned under the mortgage before they extended any money themselves.

Moreover, the finding of the court in regard to priorities is a little conflicting. The court holds the Bank of Ephraim has a valid mortgage against the defendant Davis for the full amount of the monies loaned, but says that the priorities extend to only \$3,000.00. If Paragraph 2 of the mortgage is binding upon the defendant Davis, why isn't it binding on the other parties defendant? Plaintiff's contention is that its priority is not limited by the \$3,000.00 figure in the mortgage and that it should be given priority at a minimum for the advances made before intervening encumbrances were made. Plaintiff further contends that Paragraph 2 of the mortgage is sufficient to give it priority over all lien holders.

A number of cases in various jurisdictions have dealt with the above situation and while some of these cases have held that advances made on a first mortgage after a second mortgage are secondary to the second mortgage in terms of priority, it is likewise true that a number of cases have held that a mortgage of property given in good faith to secure future advances is not regarded as invalid as against the holder

of intervening subsequent interests. Kentucky Lumber & Mill Co. v. Kentucky Title Sav. Bank and T. Co., 184 Ky 244, 211 S W 765; Batten v. Jurist; 306 Pa. 64, 158 A 557.

The generally prevailing doctrine seems to be that advances made under a recorded mortgage given to secure further optional advances will not be denied priority in lien merely because the intervening encumbrancer could not have determined from the mortgage, without extraneous inquiry, the true amount of the indebtedness of advances secured thereby. Hurst v. Flynn-Harris-Ballard Co. 143 SE 503; Exerist v. Carter 202 Iowa 498, 210 NW 559; Merchants State Bank v. Tufts 14 ND 238, 103 NW 760; Lawn Sprinkle Merc. Co. v. Hause Tex Civ App 184 SW 737.

The case before the bar is very similar to the above in that Prudential Federal Savings could have determined the amount of indebtedness on the Bank of Ephraim mortgage by a simple inquiry of the Bank.

Although there is contrary authority, the rule laid down in most cases is that an advance, though purely optional, made pursuant to a mortgage of which subsequent parties had record or other sufficient notice, is a lien or charge superior to an encumbrance intervening between the giving of the mortgage and the making of the advance, if the mortgagee

had no knowledge and no actual notice of the intervening encumbrance. Savings & Loan Soc. v. Burnett, 106 Cal.514 30 P. 922, Schmidt v. Zahrndt 148 Ind. 447, 47 NE 335, Passaic Nat Bank & Trust Co. v. Owens., 111 N J Eq 486 162 A 879, Hall v. Williamson Aro. Co. 69 W Va 671, 72 SE 76.

While the Bank of Ephraim may have had constructive notice by reason of the recording of the Prudential mortgage they had no actual notice and in fact, the lionshare of the advances made by the plaintiff Bank were prior in time to those of Prudential Federal Savings.

Even if the Plaintiff had had actual notice of the Second Mortgage, there is authority to support the proposition that the lien of an advance made under a mortgage to secure optional future advances (of which mortgage subsequent persons had record or other sufficient notice) takes priority over an encumbrance intervening between the giving of the mortgage and the making of the advance, even though the mortgagee had actual notice or knowledge of the intervening encumbrance. Gray v. Helm 60 Miss 131, Witczinski v. Everman, 51 Miss 841; First Nat. Bank v. Zarafonetis (Tex. App) 15 SW 2d 155.

The general rule would seem to be that before a holder of a mortgage to secure future advances can be deprived of his superior equity on the ground of notice of

intervening interest, actual notice thereof must be brought to his attention. Farmers Union Warehouse Co. v. Barnett Bros. 273 Ala 435, 137 So. 176, Topia v. Demartini 77 Cal 383, 19 P 641; Corn Belt Trust & Sav. Bank vs. May. 197 Iowa 54, 196 NW 735.

No where in the record is there any evidence that the plaintiff had any actual notice of the mortgage to Prudential Federal Savings.

It is further of interest that the Utah Supreme Court seems never to have squarely come to grips with this question. Utah Savings and Loan Association v. Mecham 11 U 2d 159, 356 P 2d 281 seems to uphold the position of Prudential Federal Savings on first reading, but a more careful reading shows two things,

1. That the actual holding of the court was to remand the case back to the District Court for more definite findings and thus any statement made as to priority of liens is dicta.

2. That the case actually involved the question of priority of liens of a mortgage and subsequent liens on material men under our mechanics lien statute.

Thus the Utah Courts have never actually determined the question of priority and the only case may be clearly seen as not being in point.

As a matter of fact, nearly all the cases which hold for the position of Prudential Federal Savings have dealt with priority as it exists between the mortgagee and intervening materials men.

There are some very good reasons to distinguish the materials men cases from the case at hand, one being the fact that in a materialsmen case the mortgagee making the subsequent advances has every reason to know or believe that the money he advances will be used to make improvements which immediately raises the probability of a materialsmen lien. This is not the case with a second mortgagee.

The Steinmann or Babylon mortgage is no different than the Prudential Mortgage except that the advances by the Bank were all made after the giving of the Steinmann mortgage by the defendant Davis.