1976

# Bank of Ephraim v. Halbert Davis et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant Bank of Ephraim appeals from a decision of the Sixth Judicial District Court as to the priorities of certain judgment creditors on a Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court awarded judgment on a Decree of Foreclosure to the judgment creditors, Bank of Ephraim, Babylon Corporation, Prudential Federal Savings & Loan Association and the Utah State Tax Commission, as per the complaints of each creditor. The rights of the defendant Steinmann were previously assigned to defendant Babylon Corporation. The defendants, First State Bank and United

States of America, were previously dismissed as parties defendant to the action.

In its Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure, the District Court, in addition to awarding judgments to the judgment creditors, assigned priorities to the judgments of each creditor, as set forth in the appellant's Statement of Facts.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks to sustain the entry of judgment and priorities as set forth in the court below.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

For purposes of the issues raised in this appeal, respondent substantially accepts the Statement of Facts of appellant, with several clarifications and additions as follows:

1. Appellee Babylon Corporation has interest only in the cafe property. Babylon Corporation obtained this interest by assignment from Steven Kaye Steinmann.

2. The mortgage that Halbert Davis gave to Steinmann was given the same day that the Bank of Ephraim note was given on August 7, 1970. (See defendant's Exhibit #5).

3. The Steinmann mortgage was recorded after the Bank of Ephraim mortgage, but on the same day - August 10, 1970. (See defendant's Exhibit #3). At the time of the recordation of the Steinmann mortgage, the Bank of Ephraim had advanced \$2400.00 on the Bank of Ephraim note. Any monies advanced by the Bank of Ephraim on the cafe property over and above \$2400.00

were advanced after the recordation of the Steinmann mortgage, and were purely optional. (Appellant's Brief, p. 9).

4. The Steinmann mortgage was recorded at the request of Tibbs & Tervort, who then were counsel for the appellant, Bank of Ephraim. (See defendant's Exhibit #3). The fact that the deed was prepared by the escrow department of the Bank of Ephraim, and was recorded at the request of counsel for the appellant is important in establishing that as of August 10, 1970, the appellant had actual notice of the Steinmann mortgage.

5. As stated by the appellant, "the mortgage to Steven Kaye Steinmann expressly sets forth the fact that it was secondary to the mortgage of the Bank of Ephraim." What the appellant failed to mention is that the Steinmann mortgage expressly sets forth that it be second in lien priority to the Bank of Ephraim mortgage in the amount of \$2400.00. (Defendant's Exhibit #3).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

APPELLANT BANK OF EPHRAIM HAS NO BASIS  
IN LAW OR IN FACT FOR ITS APPEAL AGAINST  
THE APPELLEE, BABYLON CORPORATION.

Throughout its arguments, appellant addresses itself to appellee Prudential Federal Savings, and only in the closing one-half page is Babylon Corporation even mentioned. Appellant would have the Court believe that the facts of the Babylon mortgage are in relevant parts similar to the facts of the Prudential mortgage. Such is not the case. The Babylon mortgage differs from the Prudential mortgage in two very important



respects. First, the Bank of Ephraim had actual notice of the Babylon mortgage, and thus was put on notice of a lien superior to its future optional advances. Second, all advances made by the Bank of Ephraim on the cafe property were made after the giving of the Steinmann mortgage. As will be pointed out below, these two fact differences render inapplicable all of the appellant's arguments as appellant would have the Court apply them to Babylon Corporation. Indeed, the cases cited by the appellant support conclusively the position of the appellee, Babylon Corporation.

#### POINT II

BECAUSE THE BANK OF EPHRAIM HAD ACTUAL NOTICE OF THE BABYLON MORTGAGE, AND ALL OF THE APPELLANT'S ADVANCES WERE MADE AFTER THE RECORDATION OF THE BABYLON MORTGAGE, THE BABYLON LIEN HAS PRIORITY OVER ANY MONIES OPTIONALLY ADVANCED BY THE BANK OF EPHRAIM.

The appellant has admitted from the beginning that the advances made by the Bank of Ephraim were optional and not obligatory under the mortgage. (Appellant's Brief, p. 9). Authority almost universally advises that such advances, when given after notice of subsequent interests, do not have priority over such subsequent interests. The universal rule is quoted quite succinctly in Leche v. Ponca City Production Credit Association, 478 P.2d 347, 350 (Okla. 1970):

"The applicable rule of law is stated in 36 Am. Jur., Mortgages, §234: 'The greater array of authority, however, is found on the side of the doctrine that advances made after notice of subsequent interests

do not have priority over such interests. This rule has been applied to subsequent liens and encumbrances as well as to subsequent grants of the property. The mere specification in the senior mortgage that the further advances are not to exceed a fixed sum does not vary the rule. The rule is especially applicable where the advancements are optional with the mortgagee...'

In 59 C.J.S., Mortgages, §230, at 299, the rule is stated: 'In accordance with the general rule, after notice of the attaching of a junior lien, the senior mortgagee ordinarily will not be protected in making further advances under his mortgage given to secure such advances, at least where he was under no binding engagement to make such advances.'

The above cited case is not a materials men case, yet it does come down strongly to support Babylon's position.

Other courts almost universally agree. In Kimmel v. Batty, 168 Colo. 431, 451 P.2d 751, 753 (1969), the Supreme Court of Colorado approves of the rule that "...if it is optional with the mortgagee to make or refuse the advances, he will be protected by the security of his mortgage only as to the advances made before the attaching of the junior lien or encumbrance." (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court of Washington, in National Bank of Washington v. Equity Investors, 81 Wash.2d 886, 506 P.2d 20, 29 (1973), also strongly agrees:

"Thus, we are adhering to what we perceive to be the weight of authority... Optional advances under a construction loan agreement attach when the advances

are actually made. Any liens attaching prior to an optional advance would thus be superior to it, and attaching afterwards, junior to it."

The Idaho Supreme Court has also come down on point:

"A senior mortgage for future advances will maintain seniority for advances made after actual notice of a junior lien if, but only if, there was a contractual obligation to make such advances existing prior to the notice of the junior lien." Biersdorff v. Brumfield, 93 Ida. 569, 468 P.2d 301, 302 (1970).

The appellant cites Savings & Loan Society v. Burnett, 106 Cal. 514, 39 P. 922, 926 (1895) as being controlling. In that case, quoting from Tapia v. Demartini, 77 Cal. 387, 641 (1888), the California Court states:

"But the lien of the mortgage cannot be enforced against subsequent encumbrances, of which the mortgagee has actual notice for advances or endorsements made or given after such notice."

A review of other cases cited by the appellant indicates that Iowa, Indiana and Alabama, as well as virtually all other jurisdictions, support the position that optional advances of a prior lienholder, after that prior lienholder has been given notice of subsequent interests, do not have priority over subsequent interests. (See Everist v. Carter, 202 Iowa 422, 210 NW 559 (1926); Corn Belt Trust & Savings Bank of Belle Plaine v. May, 197 Iowa 54, 196 NW 735 (1924); Schmidt v. Zahrndt, 148 Ind. 447, 47 NE 335, 337 (1897); Farmers Trust Warehouse Co. v. Barnett Bros., 273 Ala. 435, 137 So. 127 (1931); Elmendorf-Anthony Co. v. Dunn, 10 Wa.2d 29, 116 253, 255 (1941)).

In reaching this rule of law, the courts have followed good sound reasoning and policy. If the courts allowed a first mortgage holder to make optional advances with priority ad infinitum, even after receiving notice of a second mortgageholder's interest, it would spell the death of the second mortgage. In the instant case, it should be obvious to the Court that the Babylon-Steinmann mortgage would not have been accepted for security if Steinmann had known that the Bank of Ephraim would attempt to take priority on all future optional advances, totally contrary to the law. The appellant Bank of Ephraim indicates that any future lienholders have the responsibility of ascertaining the true amount of indebtedness outstanding at the time that the second mortgage is put into effect - even when the amount cannot be determined from the face of the mortgage (Appellant's Brief, p. 11). This is true, and Steinmann took all possible steps to protect herself, by indicating that her mortgage was second to that of the Bank of Ephraim in the amount of \$2400.00. (The exact amount already advanced). Bank of Ephraim, being the escrow agent in the Steinmann transaction, had actual notice of the above restriction. Therefore, in law and in policy, Bank of Ephraim should not receive priority over Steinmann-Babylon for any monies advanced after notice and recordation of the Steinmann-Babylon mortgage.

The Court will note that the above panoply of law indicates that the Babylon Corporation should receive priority for all amounts over the \$2400.00 already advanced at the time of the

Steinmann-Babylon mortgage, rather than amounts over \$3000.00, as decided in the court below. Although Babylon Corporation did raise this point in the court below, it has not proffered this point as a grounds for appeal and, therefore, does not ask for reversal of the lower court's judgment.

### POINT III

THE INCLUSION IN THE BANK OF EPHRAIM MORTGAGE OF THE TYPEWRITTEN PHRASE "THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED \$3000.00" LIMITS THE BANK'S PRIORITY AND RECOVERY ON THE MORTGAGE TO \$3000.00.

Although the multiplicity of authority under Point II should suffice to obtain the results for which the appellee, Babylon Corporation, asks, there is also solid authority which indicates that the \$3000.00 limitation typed onto the Bank of Ephraim mortgage also may be conclusive.

Appellant contends that the printed word in paragraph 1 of the Bank of Ephraim mortgage, wherein it states "and for all of which this mortgage shall stand as a continuing security until paid" should supercede the large typed statement that "this mortgage covers all additional advances on this loan, the total principal amount not to exceed \$3000.00." The typed statement is obviously a limitation on the mortgage security, and is irreconcilable with any statements which would allow unlimited security.

The Bank of Ephraim mortgage was prepared by the appellant, and thus should be construed most strongly against it:

"...In case of uncertainty as to the meaning of a contract, it should be construed most strictly against its drafter..." (Seal v. Tayco, Inc., 16 U.2d 323, 400 P.2d 503 (1965)).

Additionally,

"Where there is a printed form of a contract, and other words are inserted, in writing or otherwise, it is to be assumed that they take precedence over the printed matter." (Holland v. Brown, 15 U.2d 422, 394 P.2d 77, 78 (1964)).

In the same light, Steven Kaye Steinmann was justified, when reviewing the Bank of Ephraim mortgage, to believe that the written (typed) word would take precedence over any ambiguous printed statements. A mortgage cannot be both "for any other indebtedness at any time existing from the mortgagor to the mortgagee," and limited in principal amount "not to exceed \$3000.00," unless the total debt outstanding is always \$3000.00 or less. Because of the typed clause in the instant case, once the principal amount reaches \$3000.00, any additional advances would not be secured under the mortgage.

A fine Utah case in point is General Mills, Inc. v. Cragun, 103 Utah 239, 134 P.2d 1089 (1943), in which a unanimous decision was rendered, and has stood the test of time of over 33 years. In the General Mills case, there was a chattel mortgage securing the mortgagors' obligation to pay for turkey feed, drawn by the mortgagee. That mortgage contained two clauses which are amazingly similar to the clauses in question in the instant case. First, in the body of the printed mortgage, it is stated that the mortgage was security for "all other sums now or hereafter due or owing from the mortgagors to the mortgagee." Closely following was the limit "provided, however, that the maximum amount, the payment of which is to

be secured hereby, is \$3750.00." The court decided that both clauses could not be operative; that there was an irreconcilable ambiguity, and therefore rules of construction and interpretation were to be followed. Quoting from the text of the opinion at page 1093:

"It is so elementary that an ambiguity in a written instrument is construed more strongly against the party who drew the instrument that citation of authorities should be unnecessary. This is especially so where the one drafting the instrument has the advantage of a lender of money." (emphasis added).

After a thorough consideration of law and policy, the court finally stated, at 1094, that:

"We are constrained to hold from a consideration of the language of the contract in its entirety, the contract res and the relation of the parties to each other, that the parties intended by their agreement to enter into a chattel mortgage to secure the sum of not to exceed \$3750.00 by a lien..."

The similarities in the two cases are striking. Both cases involved mortgages. In both cases the mortgagee prepared the mortgage papers. Both cases have an 'unlimited' security clause as well as a 'limiting' clause. The law in Utah is clear. If there is a limiting clause in a mortgage, "the mortgage instrument is in fact for an liquidated amount with a maximum..." (Case Mills, supra, at 1093).

As applied to the case at bar, the General Mills case clearly indicates that any priorities that the appellant Bas of Ephraim could have on the secured cafe property stop at \$3000.00, as indicated on the fact of the mortgage. To grant